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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO 

	JOHN DOE and JANE DOE,



Plaintiffs,

vs.

ROE DEFENDANT, and DOES 1-20, inclusive,



Defendants.
	)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
))))
	CASE NO. 
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1PLAINTIFFS’ MEDIATION BRIEF

DATE:  

TIME:   

MEDIATOR:  

Complaint Filed: 

Trial Date: 


I. 

INTRODUCTION
This catastrophic brain injury case arises out of a truck accident that occurred on December 8, 2004.

Plaintiffs are represented by Timothy G. Tietjen and John M. Feder. Defendants are represented by counsel. Insurance Company claims a lien of approximately $614,000 and is represented by counsel. Comp Counsel represents Doe in the related worker’s compensation action now pending in Nevada.

II.
BACKGROUND AND FACTS OF ACCIDENT

On December 8, 2004, 43-year-old John Doe sustained catastrophic brain injuries when defendants attempted to haul an empty trailer through near-hurricane wind conditions, and the empty trailer was blown into the lane of plaintiff’s oncoming truck. A horrific collision ensued. Attached as Exhibit 1 are photos depicting the remains of the Roe trailer and the truck that Doe was driving at the time of the accident.


This incident occurred on Highway 429 in Washoe County, Nevada at approximately 11:00 a.m. on [Date]. Since 3:00 a.m. that morning, US 395 was closed to high profile vehicles and trailers per the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) reader board system. A huge storm system which forecasted 70 mph winds had settled into the Washoe Valley area bringing rain, snow, and extremely dangerous wind conditions for any empty or lightly loaded trailers that might attempt to travel that route.


Defendant’s employee, Roe Driver, was driving the Roe tractor and a set of double trailers on the day of the accident. Defendant Roe Driver’s first trailer was lightly loaded, and his second trailer was empty. The empty trailer weighed about 8,700 lbs and was 28 feet long and 13 feet six inches tall. Mr. Roe Driver  left Roe Defendant ’s Sparks, Nevada terminal at approximately 9:30 a.m. bound for Carson City. His plan was to drop off the empty trailer at a customer of Roe Defendant’s.


Neither Roe Defendant nor Roe Driver bothered to check road or weather conditions before defendant Roe Driver was dispatched from Sparks to Carson City. Neither Roe Defendant management nor Roe Driver had seen the newspapers or television news that was forecasting the huge storm that was to descend upon Washoe Valley. Attached as Exhibit 2 is a copy of the Reno Gazette morning newspaper prominently warning of the incoming storm. Thus, Roe Defendant dispatched Roe Driver to pull a set of double trailers into the Washoe Valley oblivious to the fact that US 395 was shut down for trucks and trailers since 3:00 a.m. that morning because of dangerous high winds. 


As defendant Roe Driver approached the junction of US 395 and Highway 429, he saw the NDOT reader board signs that prohibited trucks and trailers from continuing on US 395. Significantly, the NDOT reader board signs prohibit high profile vehicles and trailers from traveling on US 395 when there are sustained winds of 30 mph, or gusts of 40 mph. NDOT had determined through prior studies that winds of 30 to 40 mph pose a substantial threat to high profile vehicles losing control or being blown over. Independent studies and other literature support the evidence that high-profile vehicles and trailers are prone to loss of control or rollover accidents when traveling in winds in excess of 30 to 40 mph. The Washoe Valley is notorious for its high winds and prior rollover accidents, and Roe Defendant was fully aware of this before December 8, 2004. 


The prohibition of trailers on US 395 was a red-flag danger sign to any trucker who might think he could continue driving on Highway 429, which ran directly parallel to US 395, and was exposed to the exact same wind and weather conditions as US 395. Attached as Exhibit 3 is a map showing the locations of Highway 429 and US 395 where the collision occurred.


Defendant Roe Driver exited at the junction of US 395 and Highway 429 at approximately 10:45 a.m. He decided to take the gamble of proceeding southbound on Highway 429 to Carson City. Weather records at this time document that there were sustained winds of 45 to 50 mph, and wind gusts around 70 mph. Attached as Exhibit 4 is a copy of the Washoe Valley wind and weather records for the morning of the accident.


Despite these severe weather conditions, Roe Driver described the weather at the time of the accident as just “a typical windy day out there.” (Roe Driver Deposition, page 104.)


As Roe Driver proceeded southbound on Highway 429, he was faced with severe crosswinds blowing from the west. Ignoring the risk of a high wind-related accident, and multiple opportunities to pull over and stop his rig, Roe Driver proceeded southbound on Highway 429 not even bothering to safely reduce his speed below the speed limit of 45 mph. The pavement was wet and slippery from the rain and snow blowing at the time further reducing traction. 


John Doe was driving northbound on Highway 429 in a heavily laden tractor trailer rig that weighed close to 40,000 pounds. He was bound for Reno to deliver some beverages. As Roe Driver approached Doe’s truck, he looked in his rearview mirror and saw his rear trailer “in the blink of an eye” become airborne and blow directly into the path of Doe’s oncoming truck. John Doe never had a chance. A horrific collision ensued as the Doe truck literally drove through the empty Roe Defendant trailer, crushing the front of Doe’s vehicle and causing 43-year-old John Doe to suffer devastating traumatic brain injuries.

III.

DEFENDANTS’ LIABILITY
1.
Roe Defendant is a sophisticated, experienced, national transportation carrier with full knowledge of the potentially dangerous wind conditions that frequent the Washoe Valley in Nevada.

Between 2002 and 2006, Roe Defendant dispatched over 14,000 tractor/trailers through the Washoe Valley. (Defendant’s Answer to Special Interrogatories, No. 35). Roe Defendant drivers and management were fully aware before the Doe accident that the Washoe Valley area, and US 395 and Highway 429, was notoriously windy, and there was a history of high wind related accidents in the area where tractor trailer rigs were blown over or lost control due to the high winds. (Roe Driver Deposition, pages 78, 80-81; Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 73.)

2.
Roe Defendant was aware before December 2004 that the risk of a high wind-related accident was increased when defendant’s drivers pulled doubles, and a trailer was empty, especially when the roadway was wet.

Roe Defendant drivers and management knew hauling an empty trailer in high winds increased the risk of a trailer rolling over or losing control, and this could cause death or serious injury to others. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 60.)


The risk of an empty trailer blowing over was increased when a driver pulled two trailers, and the roadway surface was wet. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, pages 20-21).

3.
Roe Defendant knew that when US 395 was closed due to high winds it was taking a risk to proceed on Highway 429 as the same wind and weather conditions exist on the two roadways.

The NDOT reader board system prohibits tractor trailer rigs, loaded or empty, from proceeding on US 395 when there are sustained winds of 30 mph, or gusts of 40 mph. Roe Defendant  management knew that if US 395 was closed down due to high winds, it was taking a risk in allowing an empty trailer to proceed down Highway 429. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 64.)


Roe Defendant knew that US 395 and Highway 429 run roughly parallel to each other and are separated by no more than a mile. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, pages 63-64.)  US 395 and Highway 429 are subject to the exact same wind and weather conditions. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 64.)  Significantly, Roe Defendant also knew that the prevailing wind in Washoe Valley was westerly, and a driver attempting to haul an empty trailer southbound on Highway 429 would be facing crosswinds – the most dangerous situation for an empty trailer to lose control. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 57.)  If a driver hauling an empty trailer southbound on Highway 429 lost control of his trailer, the winds would blow the trailer into the oncoming (northbound) lane of traffic due to the crosswinds. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 57.)

4.
Despite Roe Defendant’s experience and specific knowledge of the dangers of high wind truck accidents in the Washoe Valley, it provided absolutely no training to its drivers regarding driving in high winds, or precautions to take to avoid high wind accidents. Instead, Roe Defendant relied solely on the judgment of its drivers whether it was safe to proceed to drive in high winds.

Defendant Roe Driver was hired by Roe Defendant in November 2003. He received absolutely no training or instruction from Roe Defendant about the danger and hazards of driving trucks in high winds. (Roe Driver Deposition, page 57,)  He received no training from Roe Defendant about how to recognize when winds were unsafe to drive in (Roe Driver Deposition, page 61.)


Joe Safety was the safety manager for Roe Defendant for 6 years. He admits Roe Defendant had no program or policy in place to train drivers about the dangers of driving in high winds. (Joe Safety Deposition, pages 40-41; 53.) Specifically, Roe Defendant gave no training or information whatsoever to defendant Roe Driver regarding high winds and empty trailers. (Joe Safety Deposition, page 41.) When asked why no such training was provided to drivers, Mr. Safety replied that “no one thought about it.” (Joe Safety Deposition, page 40.)


Instead of providing training to its drivers about driving in high wind conditions, or precautions to take to prevent accidents in high wind conditions, Roe Defendant  simply left it up to each driver’s judgment to decide if it was safe to proceed. (Joe Safety Deposition, pages 66-67; Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 63.)

5.
Roe Defendant  had no policy or practice to check road or weather conditions before dispatching its trucks into the Washoe Valley, and it made no effort to check these conditions before dispatching the Roe Driver  truck and trailers on the day of the accident.

Despite Roe Defendant’s knowledge of the danger of high-wind truck accidents in the Washoe Valley, it had no practice or policy to check road or weather conditions before dispatching trucks in Washoe Valley. (Joe Safety Deposition, page 47; Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, pages 29-30; 52.)  Joe Safety testified he never thought about whether it would be a good idea for truckers to be kept abreast of the expected weather for where they were traveling. (Joe Safety Deposition, page 47.)


On December 8, 2004, NDOT prohibited trucks and trailers from traveling on US 395 at approximately 3:00 a.m. over 6 hours before Roe Driver left the Sparks terminal. No one at Roe Defendant bothered to check road conditions before it dispatched Roe Driver to haul an empty trailer into the Washoe Valley. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 77.)


Shockingly, as of the date of the accident, Roe Defendant management did not even know that with a click of a computer button it could access real time wind and weather conditions in Washoe Valley. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 64-65.) In addition, Roe Defendant had no practice of even checking the newspapers to learn what expected weather conditions were forecast. (Roe Defendant PMK Deposition, page 33.) Attached as Exhibit 4 is a computer printout that shows the actual conditions in the Washoe Valley the day of the accident. This information was readily available to Roe Defendant  had it logged onto a computer the morning of the accident.

6.
Roe Defendant  admits if it had the available weather data before Roe Driver left the terminal, it would not have allowed him to leave with an empty trailer.

Defendant Roe Driver never thought to check the weather the day of the accident. (Roe Driver Deposition, page 81.)  In deposition, when Roe Driver was shown the real time weather data that was available for the morning of the accident, he admitted if he saw there were 70 to 80 mph winds, that would have stopped him from carrying the empty trailer into Washoe Valley. (Roe Driver Deposition, page 168.)


Other Roe Defendant employees have agreed if they knew what weather conditions actually existed in Washoe Valley, i.e., winds of 50 to 70 mph, it would have stopped defendant from dispatching Roe Driver and his empty trailer. (Roe Defendant Employee 1 Deposition, page 141; (Roe Defendant Employee 2 Deposition, page 42.)


It is astounding that a professional trucking company the size of Roe Defendant had no safety policy in place to check road or weather conditions before dispatching its trucks and trailers into the notoriously windy and potentially dangerous Washoe Valley region.

7.
Defendant’s liability is aggravated by both a pre- and post-accident history of similar wind related accidents, and defendant has done nothing to change its policies or practices despite a dozen similar accidents.

The Doe accident was not the first time a Roe Defendant  truck lost control in high wind conditions. There were at least four similar high wind related accidents between December 1999 and March 2002 in California and Wyoming involving Roe Defendant trailers. No serious injuries occurred in these four prior accidents, but the common denominators were there to see: (a) the driver’s lack of knowledge of expected weather conditions; (b) empty trailers or light loads being carried; and (c) drivers taking the risk of driving in high wind conditions and not pulling off the roadway.


Significantly, after the Doe accident there have been seven more Roe Defendant high wind-related accidents. In one of the accidents, a Roe Defendant driver was killed. Again, the same common denominators existed in the seven subsequent accidents as the four prior accidents. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 are reports of the similar Roe Defendant wind-related accidents.


Evidence of prior similar accidents is admissible to prove 1) a dangerous or defective condition or practice; 2) a party’s knowledge or notice of such a condition or practice; 3) the cause of an accident, or;  4) that a party was negligent. (Jefferson, California Evidence Benchbook, 3rd Ed. § 21.65.) Evidence of subsequent similar accidents are also relevant to show a dangerous practice, or a party’s negligence. (Jefferson, supra at § 21.65.)


Defendant’s indifference to safety is proven by its utter failure to change any of its policies or practices after experiencing a dozen high wind-related accidents. Multiple employees in Roe Defendant  management have confirmed that Roe Defendant  has changed none of its practices or policies despite the string of similar accidents. (Roe Defendant Employee 1 Deposition, page 77; (Roe Defendant Employee 2 Deposition, page 59.)


Instead of implementing practices and policies to prevent further high wind related accidents, defendant simply relies on its untrained and unguided employees to exercise their “best judgment” in deciding whether to continue driving in high winds. The “judgment” of defendant Roe Driver  is thus a central issue in this case, and his background of poor judgment is well documented.

8.
Defendant Roe Defendant negligently entrusted its vehicles to a four-time convicted felon for driving under the influence who had previously lost his commercial driver’s license for several years and lied on his Roe Defendant job application. Defendant failed to learn this information until after plaintiff’s discovery in this litigation.

To further cement and aggravate defendant’s liability in this case, there is compelling evidence that defendant Roe Defendant  negligently hired and entrusted its vehicles to defendant Roe Driver. Defendant Roe Driver was hired by Roe Defendant in November 2003. Roe Defendant’s standard hiring practice is to obtain at least ten years of employment history, and verify that history. (Roe Defendant Employee 1 Deposition, page 22.) Defendant admittedly failed to verify Roe Driver’s 10-year employment history. ((Roe Defendant Employee 1 Deposition, page 46.) Roe Defendant has no explanation for its failure to follow its standard procedures and verify Roe Driver’s employment history. 


Defendant Roe Driver represented on his Roe Defendant job application that he worked for Poe Construction from March 1992 until October 1996 as a “driver, laborer, and carpenter.”  In fact, defendant Roe Driver  was an inmate at Northern Nevada Correctional Center between March 27, 1992 and January 5, 1993. Significantly, Roe Driver was in jail for his fourth felony conviction for driving under the influence. Further, defendant Roe Driver had his commercial driver’s license suspended between 1992 and 1997. (Roe Driver Deposition, page 32.)

Attached hereto as Exhibit 6 is Roe Driver’s job application and signature certifying the 

accuracy of his employment application.


Roe Defendant hired Roe Driver oblivious of his criminal background, and loss of his commercial driver’s license for five years. Roe Defendant did not do a criminal background check on its freight company drivers to save “costs.”  (Roe Defendant Employee 1 Deposition, page 29.)  


Roe Defendant management admits if it knew that Roe Driver lied on his job application it would never have hired him as an employee. (Roe Defendant Employee 1 Deposition, page 52.)  Roe Defendant would not want to entrust such a person with expensive trucking equipment, let alone risk the potential lives and safety of the motoring public. (Roe Defendant Employee 1 Deposition, page 27.)


Roe Defendant admittedly provided no training to Roe Driver regarding driving in high-wind conditions and left it to Roe Driver’s “best judgment” to decide if it was safe to proceed in such conditions. (Joe Safety Deposition, pages 66-67; Roe Defendant Employee 1 Deposition, page 61). Defendant Roe Driver testified at the time of the accident it was just “a typical windy day out there”. (Roe Driver Deposition, page 104.) Roe Defendant driver Dave Trucker, who arrived at the accident scene within an hour of the collision, confirms it was not just a typical windy day but close to a ten on a scale of one to ten, and as windy as he had ever seen conditions (Trucker Deposition, pages 80-81.) Clearly, it was not a typical windy day with US 395 closed to trucks and trailers due to high winds, and wind speeds in Washoe Valley blowing a steady 40 to 50 mph with wind gusts of 70 mph. 


Negligent entrustment is established when: 1) a driver is negligent in operating a vehicle; 2) defendant was an owner of the vehicle operated by the driver; 3) the vehicle owner knew, or should have known, that the driver was incompetent or unfit to drive the vehicle; 4) the defendant permitted the driver to use the vehicle, and 5) the driver’s incompetence or unfitness to drive was a substantial factor in causing harm. (CACI No. 724.)


The above evidence establishes that defendant Roe Driver has a history of bad judgment from being a four-time convicted felon, to having his commercial driver’s license suspended for five years, to lying on his job application, and ignoring the dangerous high wind conditions on Highway 429 the day of the accident. Roe Driver was not fit or competent to be employed as a professional driver, and Roe Defendant was plainly negligent in hiring him as a driver.


Since defendant Roe Defendant relies solely on the judgment of its drivers to decide whether it is safe to drive its trucks and tractors in high wind conditions, defendant Roe Driver’s background and history is relevant and admissible on the negligent entrustment issue, and for purposes of impeachment as Roe Driver clearly lied on his job application. (Evidence Code § 788 and § 780.)

9. Roe Defendant has demonstrated an indifference to safety, and its failure to correct its dangerous and unsafe practices are motivated by economics, and pose an ongoing threat to every motorist on the road.

After discovering defendant’s accident history and dismal safety record, plaintiffs filed a motion to amend complaint for punitive damages in this case. The court granted this motion. Thereafter, defendant filed a motion to strike plaintiffs’ punitive damage claim, which was granted by a conservative judge. Nonetheless, plaintiffs believe this case is essentially a punitive damage case without the technical claim. A jury will still hear all the relevant and admissible evidence that clearly points to a trucking company that is more concerned for profits and conducting “business as usual,” rather than protecting the safety of the public and its own drivers.


Defendant’s Safety Manager, Joe Safety, made the following comments in deposition:

Q. So are you saying, Mr. Safety, that if you had known from the National Weather Service that winds were predicted in the Washoe Valley for between 50 to 60 to 70 miles per hour for the day of this accident, that you would have felt comfortable sending Roe Driver with an empty trailer through that area that day?

A. Yes. We do it all around the country every day of the year with hundreds and hundreds of trucks.

Q. Sometimes they flip over, don’t they?

A. Would you like to stop the entire economy of the United States because the wind might blow a little bit? When the wind blows – we instruct our drivers when the wind blows and they feel uncomfortable, you know, we hire the best, and we expect our drivers to follow their, you know, what they’ve learned over time. This particular driver had 11 years’ experience driving similar equipment. Safe experience, by the way. We expect them to use their best judgment. . . ” 

(Joe Safety Deposition, pages 66-67.)


Defendant Roe Driver echoed the testimony of Joe Safety:

Q. So are you saying that, for economic reasons, to keep the customer happy, in fear of losing the customer’s business, that the trucking companies sometimes will encounter more dangerous conditions than they had expected in order to make sure they keep the customer?

Mr. McDowell: Object.

The Witness: The trucking companies, yes.

(Roe Driver Deposition, page 91.)


Despite this catastrophic accident, and the approximate twelve other wind-related accidents involving defendant’s equipment, including the death of a Roe Defendant driver, defendant has done absolutely nothing to change its safety practices to prevent further incidents from occurring. In fact, Roe Defendant’s Safety Manager insists he would still dispatch an empty trailer into 50 to 70 mph winds:

Q. So you still would send an empty trailer as part of a double into winds that were predicted to be between 50 and 70 miles an hour that morning, according to the weather report, and have the driver operate between 40 and 45 miles an hour?  That’s correct?

A. I would say today, yes. 

(Joe Safety Deposition, page 101.)


Roe Defendant’s negligence is clear and inescapable, whether one applies standard negligence elements, or the higher standard of care required of a common carrier. We believe a jury will be angry and outraged over defendant’s utter lack of safety practices, and its tolerance of a dozen wind related accidents without taking any steps to prevent further incidents. Roe Defendant  ontinues without remorse to play “Russian Roulette” on the highways, and it poses an ongoing threat to the safety of every motorist due to its negligent hiring and management practices. Defendant has no viable defense to this catastrophic case, and a jury will have no difficulty rendering a huge verdict to regulate Roe Defendant’s safety practices and protect future motorists from Roe Defendant’s negligence.

/ / /

IV.
DEFENSE LIABILITY CONTENTIONS

1.
There are no realistic liability defenses, or comparative fault defenses in this case.

The defense has suggested that the wind gusts that blew defendant Roe Driver ’s trailer into plaintiff’s path was an “Act of God.”  This defense is not applicable to this case as a matter of law.


The “Act of God” defense requires that the event asserted be an unanticipated natural occurrence. The natural event must be so unusual in its proportions that it could not be anticipated by defendant, and the fact the event is unforeseeable is not enough. (See Mancuso v. So. Cal. Edison Company (1991) 232 Cal.App.3d 88.)  The “Act of God” defense only applies when a human agency does not participate in proximately causing the harm. If defendant’s negligence combines with an “Act of God” to cause injury it remains liable. (Dufour v. Henry J. Kaiser (1963) 215 Cal.App.2d 26, 29.)


In Holt Manufacturing Co. v. Thorton (1902) 136 Cal.232, a party tried to avoid a property damage claim by arguing that high winds in the region caused the loss, and this was an “Act of God.”  The court rejected this defense stating words equally applicable to this case:

High winds in the region and at that season of the year were common; and while the evidence may show that on occasions referred to, the wind was above the average of high winds, it does not show that it was such a wind as might not have been reasonably anticipated.”  

(Holt, supra, at p. 235.)


Here, the high winds were not only foreseeable, but known to Roe Defendant’s William Roe Driver as US 395 was closed to Roe Defendant vehicles since 3:00 a.m. the morning of the accident. The dangerous wind conditions in Washoe Valley could easily have been anticipated by defendant with the click of a computer button. Roe Defendant cannot claim an “Act of God” defense as a matter of law.


The defense has also argued that because a couple of other trailers blew over on Highway 429 the day of the Doe accident, this somehow shows its conduct was reasonable. The fact that other trucking companies negligently sent empty trailers into the Washoe Valley without checking existing weather conditions, and its drivers chose to ignore the dangerous weather conditions, provides no defense. The negligence of others does not excuse the negligence of Roe Defendant. In fact, this further demonstrates the dangerous practices that exist in the trucking industry, and provides a powerful motivation for a jury to return a large verdict to deter Roe Defendant and any other trucking companies from gambling with the lives and safety of other motorists.


Finally, it is admitted by the defense that John Doe never stood a chance to avoid this collision. The defense has formally conceded there is no comparative fault on the part of Doe. (Defendant’s Response To Request For Admission No. 6.)


In sum, this is a rare case of crystal clear and aggravated liability with no viable liability defenses, or comparative fault arguments.
V.

INJURIES AND MEDICAL TREATMENT

John Doe was rendered unconscious at the scene as a result of this high speed collision. There was significant intrusion into his cab and his extrication from the truck was prolonged. His initial Glasgow Coma score in the field was 5, demonstrating a severe brain injury.


Doe was taken by ambulance to Washoe Medical Center. The history and physical report of December 8th documents a Glascow Coma scale of 3 – the worst possible score and a sign of profound brain damage. Doe was intubated in the emergency room and chemically paralyzed. There was bleeding from his left ear and he remained unconscious. A CT Scan of the brain was taken on December 8, 2004. This revealed multiple hemorrhaging in his frontal lobes bilaterally, as well as his right temporal lobe, splenium of the corpus callosum and in the high left parietal convexity. Multiple other hemorrhaging was noted in his left temporal lobe, and the subarachnoid area. The CT findings were consistent with a diffuse brain shearing injury.


A follow up CT Scan of the brain was done on December 9, 2004. This revealed multiple areas of hemorrhagic contusion, including both the right and left temporal lobes and the inferior bifrontal regions. Initial impressions included a closed head injury with shearing of the brain and coma. 


Diffuse axonal injury (DAI), or brain shearing, is a devastating injury. During trauma, the brain suffers rotational and shearing forces that stretch the nerve cells and nerve fiber tracks. DAI is diagnosed when wide spread hemorrhaging is seen in the brain on CT Scan, as in Doe’s case. The implications of such a diagnosis are profound as DAI often causes prolonged or permanent alterations in consciousness, behavior, cognition, or motor disabilities. Plaintiffs’ settlement documentary DVD, which will be provided to the defense in the near future, contains visual graphics depicting Doe’s widespread brain injuries as documented by the radiology studies post accident. 


On December 11, 2004, it was noted that Doe was agitated, but he was able to follow commands and move all four of his extremities. He remained intubated and sedated with Ativan and Morphine. By December 14, 2004, Doe was following commands intermittently and was off sedation. He remained on a ventilator. 


On December 20, 2004, a speech therapy note indicated that Doe was agitated and attempting to pull his tubes out. 


Given the severity of Doe’s brain injuries, he was transferred to Santa Clara Valley Medical Center on December 22, 2004 for more advanced care. At Santa Clara, Doe was agitated and restless. His recent and remote memory was described as abnormal. He was placed in a bed enclosure for his own safety. Doe remained in post-traumatic amnesia for six weeks; this is another sign of a very severe brain injury.


A psychological assessment was done by Dr. Psychologist on December 23, 2004. Doe was noted to have poor attention and was unable to communicate effectively. His speed of information processing was slow, and his thought content was confused. Doe’s speech was not fluent. He was not able to express his most basic wants and needs. He continued to be restless and attempted to pull out his tubes multiple times during the assessment. 


A psychology reassessment on January 10, 2005 noted Doe to be disoriented to place and time with poor retention. It was felt that he was still in a state of post traumatic amnesia.


Doe remained in the acute rehabilitation unit of Santa Clara Valley Medical Center for one month. He was treated for a urinary tract infection, and pulled out his own nasogastric feeding tube. Gradually, he was able to tolerate an oral diet. Slowly, his restlessness and agitation improved. 


On January 21, 2005, it was felt that Doe was out of his post-traumatic amnesia stage. It was noted that Doe was complaining of significant double vision. He was evaluated by an ophthalmologist and it was determined that he had sustained some optic nerve damage. On January 24, 2005, Doe was discharged home. He was independent for basic self care and able to slowly ambulate with supervision on level surfaces. He was able to express only basic needs at this time. He was discharged home to the care of his wife, but required 24-hour-per-day supervision. 


Doe was referred to rehabilitation medicine physician Dr. Rehab on January 31, 2005.

Dr. Rehab noted that Doe was angry and frustrated. His deficits included poor balance, 

lower extremity weakness, double vision, poor memory, and reduced concentration. 


On February 9, 2005, neuro-ophthalmologist Dr. Eyes evaluated Doe. He 

identified bilateral traumatic fourth cranial nerve palsies. Doe’s double vision was worse 

when gazing to the left or right. In addition, he was experiencing an image tilt. He was prescribed 

special glasses.


In February 2005, Doe returned to Dr. Rehab. Multiple behavioral problems were 

noted. It was reported that Doe was slamming doors, throwing objects, not sleeping well and 

had anger outbursts. He was referred to a psychologist.


On March 3, 2005, Doe and his wife saw the psychologist. Doe was cooperative, but reported anger and frustration. Jane Doe noted her husband’s increased anger reflected a change in his personality. 


Over the next several months, Doe was followed up by Rehab Services. He was demonstrating frontal lobe symptoms. He had poor initiation and difficulty with problem solving. Upon seeing Dr. Rehab again on April 19, 2005, anger issues were once again discussed. Doe continued to experience multiple behavioral problems, cognition difficulties, and balance 

problems as well as double vision. He declined recommendations for medications. Because of the 

severity of Doe’s ongoing brain injuries, it was recommended that he be transferred to 

CNS. 


CNS evaluated Doe on May 6, 2005. Several maladaptive behaviors were observed during the course of the evaluation. Doe was observed screaming angrily at his wife and using profane language. He became agitated upon seeing the nurse case manager. It was noted that Jane Doe felt uncertain how to approach her husband and calm his behavior because of his increased agitation. John Doe was very resistant to the idea of further post acute rehabilitation. The CNS findings included ongoing balance problems, reduced physical endurance, clonus in his legs when fatigued, and double vision. It was difficult to diagnose Doe’s cognitive status because of his unwillingness to cooperate. He showed inflexible thinking and a lack of understanding. 


On June 1, 2005, Doe was admitted to the residential program at CNS. Initially, it was hoped that he would be discharged in a month. In fact, Doe remained in the residential program from May 6, 2005 until January 30, 2006, a period of 8 months. 


During the initial months in the residential program, Doe continued to experience severe behavioral problems. He attempted to run away from the program twice and threatened to harm himself. He pulled out a knife and spoke of suicide. Doe spent days isolating himself in his apartment and trying to avoid the staff. Doe was advised that he could be transferred to a mental health facility for his own safety, or return to the resident population if he began working with therapists. He reluctantly chose to take part in the therapy program. 


In late June, Doe was taking medications such as Trazadone, Celexa and Ativan. An MRI of the brain was performed on June 24, 2005 which revealed multiple areas of old hemorrhage bilaterally worse on the right than the left. 


Throughout the summer of 2005, Doe continued to be seen by a group of specialists including an audiologist and an optometrist. Hearing problems were noted in addition to the visual problems discussed earlier.


By August 31, 2005, it was noted that Doe was having more problems with his lower extremity clonus. Clonus is an involuntary spasmodic alteration of muscular contraction and relaxation. Doe’s clonus causes him severe walking and balance problems.


On October 11, 2005, Doe was seen by a physical medicine physician. Doe was noted to have problems sleeping, impaired memory and vision problems. In October, a doctor started Doe on Abilify as Doe was demonstrating paranoia and increased anxiety. The Abilify was eventually increased as it was noted that Doe had an increase of paranoid statements and was not taking care of his own personal hygiene. 


Doe was finally discharged from CNS on January 30, 2006. At the time of discharge,

his speed and mental processing had improved but remained slow. His problem solving remained 

significantly poor and he was inflexible when changes occurred to his routine. He continued to 

experience behavioral problems. Doe was cleared to return to work for 4 hours on February 

7, 2006 in an effort to see if he would be able to work again. 


As an outpatient in February 2006, Doe continued to be seen by Dr. Rehab. He noted Doe’s ongoing problems with reduced mental flexibility, reduced problem solving ability, balance problems and reduced memory. He recommended further counseling.


On February 14, 2006 Doe met with a psychologist. He expressed his desire to reduce medications and return to work full time. Dr. Rehab felt Doe was not ready to attempt to return to work full time.


On March 13, 2006 Dr. Rehab reported that Doe failed his driver’s license test the 

first time but had subsequently passed. He was working 6 hours a day at this time in the 

warehouse but having difficulties at work.


A vocation rehabilitation counselor followed Doe and assisted him. She contacted Doe’s employer to obtain feedback on how Doe was doing. It was repeatedly reported by Doe’s employer’s staff that Doe was not the same person that he was before the accident. He was easily confused and fatigued and had problems interacting with fellow employees at work.


Doe was allowed to make some deliveries at work but encountered problems finding locations that he had been to before. He informed Dr. Rehab in September 2006 that he felt overwhelmed and uncomfortable when driving and making deliveries especially in areas he was not familiar with. He was only driving his personal auto short distances to familiar locations. He continued to suffer from extreme fatigue and memory difficulties as well as balance problems. He walked with a shuffling gait. It was felt that Doe’s continued fatigue was due to his brain injury.


When Doe began his return to work in February 2006, he was working 4 hours a day. That was gradually increased to 6 hours per day and then in April 2006 he was working 40 hours per week. It was Doe’s strong desire to continue working full time but he was unable to do so because of his continued fatigue. Essentially, Doe would rise in the morning at 6:00 a.m. and go to work at 7:00 a.m. He would return home after work at approximately 4:00 p.m., have dinner, and then be asleep by 5:30 p.m. or 6:00 p.m. at night, sleeping 12 hours a day. Jane Doe continued to be concerned over her husband’s extreme fatigue and eventually Doe was overwhelmed by the effort to work full-time.


In November 2006, Doe’s work was decreased to 30 hours per week. His employer made every effort to accommodate Doe’s physical needs. However, Doe continued to perform poorly at work, falling asleep on the job, displaying anger outbursts for no particular reason against other employees, and failing to follow simple tasks. On one occasion, Doe hit a co-worker in the head with his lunch pail for no apparent reason. Doe had never displayed this type of behavior before.


On January 3, 2007, Doe was discharged from his job because of his inability to perform the basic functions of his job. Doe was devastated at losing a job he enjoyed and where he had previously planned a long career.


In October 2006, plaintiff’s counsel referred Doe to physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist Dr. PMRS. Dr. PMRS evaluated Doe on October 2, 2006. Dr. PMRS prepared a rehabilitation medicine report dated November 2, 2006, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 7. She also subsequently developed a Life Care Plan dated June 16, 2007, which is also attached as Exhibit 7.

Dr. PMRS diagnosed Doe as suffering a severe traumatic brain injury. The imaging studies along with his initial Glascow Coma score documented the severity of his brain injuries. Doe’s symptoms include cognitive deficits, impaired memory, reduced physical and cognitive stamina, double vision, post traumatic dizziness, and depression with features of anxiety. It was also noted that he was experiencing paranoia and behavioral discontrol. 


Dr. PMRS expressed concern in her November 2006 report about Doe’s ability to work in the future. She wished to see updated neuropsychological testing before commenting on Doe’s future needs. 


On January 18, 2007, plaintiff’s counsel referred Doe to neuropsychologist Dr. NP for evaluation. A copy of Dr. NP’s report is attached hereto as Exhibit 8. It was Dr. NP’s impression that Doe had made a very good recovery from an extremely severe traumatic brain injury. However, Doe continued to show problems with memory, multi-tasking, and processing speed. Dr. NP felt that as Doe became more aware of his deficits it was causing him increased depression. Doe continued to be prone to irritability and decreased emotional control. Dr. NP was also concerned about Doe’s ability to work in any capacity in the future. As of February 2007, with the assistance of his wife Pam Doe, Dr. NP initially felt that Doe’s cognitive deficits would not require significant attendant care in the future. However, he deferred the need for discussion of attendant care to Doe’s physiatrist. 


Dr. NP felt that if Doe would participate in future psychotherapy it would be beneficial. He recommended a total of 50 visits for him and his wife in their future. Dr. NP believed that Doe would likely continue to experience the traumatic brain injury residuals that he displayed for the remainder of his life. Please see Dr. NP’s report attached hereto as Exhibit 8 for further details.


On April 6, 2007 the defense had Doe evaluated by neuropsychologist Dr. Defense. He agreed Doe suffered a severe brain injury and has permanent residuals. Dr. Defense deferred to vocational specialists the issue of Doe’s ability to work, and made no comments on his future medical care.


In June of 2007, Dr. Rehab prepared a Life Care Plan for Doe. At this time, Dr. Rehab felt that Doe could survive with 20 to 25 hours per week of attendant care, and that a CNA level of care would be adequate. This initial projection assumed Jane Doe would continue to assist Doe, and that Doe would continue to work in some part time structured environment. It was also noted that an alternative care plan might require assisted living facility placement for Doe. However, Doe strongly preferred to remain at home being taken care of by his wife. 


In 2008, Doe began seeing rehabilitation specialist Dr. RS. Dr. RS’s deposition was taken in this case on May 28, 2008. Dr. RS made it clear in his deposition that if Mrs. Doe was not able to supervise and take care of Doe, that he would require supervision 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. It was Dr. RS’s opinion that Doe did not have the judgment to take care of himself in the real world and that he would need to be institutionalized if Mrs. Doe was not there to care for her husband. (RS Deposition, page 48.) Absent Mrs. Doe’s acting as Doe’s caregiver, Dr. RS felt that Doe would require group home supervision or extended care facility 24/7. (RS deposition, page 48)


Dr. RS also confirmed that from an objective medical perspective, Doe is medically disabled from engaging in any future gainful employment. He believes as Doe ages, he will become more impaired and that he will not be able to safely live independently in the community. (RS Deposition, page 58.)  As a result of his severe injuries, Doe has impaired insight into the depth of his injuries and problems and he continues to experience frustration over his inability to get better. Sadly, Doe continues to harbor unrealistic expectations that he will improve and get better in the future and ultimately be able to return to work at his former employer.


Doe has also been followed by psychiatrist Dr. Steven Shrink. In Dr. Shrink’s recent deposition, he confirmed that while Doe’s cognitive deficits are reasonably stable, he is predisposed to further premature decline in cognition and early dementia. Dr. Shrink does not believe that any medications will significantly alter Doe’s bleak future.


At this time, Doe continues to be seen by Dr. RS. Continued efforts are being made to encourage Doe to participate in psychological counseling. However, because of his brain injuries, Doe is resistant to psychotherapy. His condition at this time is clearly permanent and stationary and there is no hope that he will ever improve. In fact, as Doe ages his condition will further decline. Please see the attached reports for further details regarding Doe’s care and treatment.
VI.

DAMAGES
A.
Economic
1. 
Past Medical Expenses


As confirmed by counsel for the intervenor insurance company, past medical bills incurred to date are $667,610. Actual medical bills paid are $425,031. However, under Greer v. Buzgheia (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1150, plaintiff  is entitled to recover at trial the full amount of the medical bills, and not just the amount paid. The issue of whether the defense is entitled to any post-judgment reduction of the medical bills remains to be determined. 


The past medical bills incurred do not include the reasonable value of nursing services and

attendant care provided by Jane Doe and her family to Doe. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover 

the reasonable value of nursing services and attendant care provided even if those services were 

provided gratuitously. (See Rodriguez v. McDonnell Douglas Corp. (1978) 87 Cal.App.3d 626, 

661.)


Between January 24, 2005 and May 30, 2005, Doe was released home with the 

requirement that he be supervised 24/7. During this timeframe, either Jane Doe or other family 

members stayed with Doe to supervise and ensure his safety and wellbeing. This timeframe was 

approximately 130 days. 130 days x 24 hours per day = 3,120 hours. The reasonable cost of 

attendant care is approximately $20 per hour. This sum multiplied by 3,120 hours yields $62,400. 


Upon Doe’s discharge from CNS on January 30, 2006, he has continued to receive attendant care in the form of driving, shopping, cooking, cleaning, etc. Plaintiffs’ counsel estimates an average of 25 hours per week of attendant care provided between February 1, 2006 and the present date. This is approximately 33 months of care times 100 hours per month or 3,300 hours. Multiplying 3,300 hours times $20 per hour yields a reasonable value for past attendant care services during this time period of $66,000. 


Plaintiffs thus calculate the reasonable value of past nursing and attendant care services at $128,400.


Total past medicals including the reasonable value of nursing and attendant care is thus $796,010.

2. 
Future Medical Expenses


Attached hereto as Exhibit 9 is a Life Care Plan prepared by plaintiff’s expert rehabilitation consultant. This life care plan was generated from the information provided by Dr. Rehab per her rehabilitation medicine evaluation report dated November 2, 2006, and life care plan recommendations dated June 16, 2007. 


At the time these reports were prepared, Doe was still able to work part time, the deposition of plaintiff’s treating physician Dr. RS had not been taken, and up to date medical information was not available regarding Doe’s health status.


As documented at the deposition of Dr. RS, it is his opinion that without Mrs. Doe’s assistance, Doe would require 24/7 supervision due to the severity of his brain injuries. (RS deposition, pages 48; 58; and 62.)


Attached as Exhibit 10 is a supplemental report from plaintiff’s expert rehabilitation consultant incorporating the opinions of Dr. RS from his recent deposition.


Plaintiffs’ counsel has retained an expert economist to evaluate plaintiff’s future medical expenses and wage loss. Attached as Exhibit 11 is a copy of the economist’s report dated October 20, 2008. 


Per Dr. Rehab’s initial recommendations, and the Life Care Plan report of August 13, 2007, Doe’s future medical expenses were initially projected at $1,082,650. (See Economist Report, Exhibit 11.) 


With the more current medical information provided by Dr. RS, Doe’s future medical expenses were updated. The cost of future medical care incorporating Dr. RS’s prognosis ranges between $4,350,866 and $5,519,847. (See Economist Report, Exhibit 11.)


The difference between the two medical cost projections centers on Doe’s needs for future attendant care or facility care. Under the preliminary reports of Dr. Rehab and plaintiff’s expert rehabilitation consultant, 20 to 25 hours per week of attendant care was projected at a CNA level. However, Doe’s medical condition has declined by all accounts since these early projections. Accordingly, the supplemental report of Carol Hyland dated October 14, 2008 incorporates Dr. RS’s prognosis which projects 24/7 care needs for Doe.


As plaintiffs’ primary treating physician, we believe Dr. RS is in the best position to evaluate Doe’s future medical needs. Dr. RS continues to see and treat Doe. It is important to note that Dr. RS is a conservative physician who frequently testifies on behalf of the defense. We believe his medical opinions will carry great weight in determining Doe’s future medical needs. Dr. RS’s recent deposition has been provided to Dr. Rehab and Dr. NP for reassessment of their 2006 and 2007 reports.


3.
Past and Future Wage Loss

At the time of this incident, Doe was working as a driver earning $16.50 per hour. However, as Doe’s former supervisor, Jim Boss, acknowledged in deposition, Doe would have had the opportunity to become a salesman earning substantially more money had he not been injured in this incident. 


In fact, since the deposition, Boss has confirmed that after the Doe accident he has promoted two employees to a salesman position, and both these employees were junior to Doe. Boss has stated that had Doe not been injured in this accident, he would have been eligible to work as a salesman beginning in October 2005. Documentation of this fact is contained in an interview with Boss that will be part of the settlement documentary DVD soon to be provided to the defense.


Had Doe become a salesman as expected, he would probably have earned $60,000 per 

year according to Boss. This is the average sum earned by the nine salesmen. Accordingly, in 

projecting Doe’s future wage loss we have calculated his income as a driver until January 2006, by 

which time he would have become a salesman.


In calculating Doe’s past and future wage loss, we have taken into account the mitigating income Doe earned when he briefly returned to his former employer, as well as the income he earned at Beta Productions until June 19, 2008 when Doe stopped working.


Plaintiff’s expert rehabilitation consultant performed a vocational evaluation assessment of 

Doe in December 2007. A copy of this report is attached as Exhibit 12. Ms. Hyland confirms that 

the highest level of employment Doe could ever reasonably hope to obtain is the part time 

supported employment he had with Beta Productions. If Doe could not successfully stay at this 

job, it is likely he will not find any other work to accommodate the limitations posed by his 

disability.


Dr. RS has also recently confirmed in deposition that Doe is medically disabled from any future gainful employment. (RS deposition, page 58)


On June 19, 2008, Doe stopped working for Beta Productions. He had been working 30 hours per week up to this date performing the simple repetitive task of dipping wires in solder. Doe left Beta Productions due to ongoing fatigue, job boredom, and his being made fun of at work for his slowness and walking difficulties.


Doe would love to find a full time job, and he has demonstrated great motivation to work ever since his release from CNS. The sad reality is that Doe’s disabilities are too great for him to find any gainful employment, or even work part time in a sheltered workshop environment.


Per the Economic Impact Report, Doe’s past and future wage loss reduced to present cash value is $1,394,574. Please see Exhibit 11 for further details regarding Doe’s wage loss calculations.

B.
Non-Economic Damages

This accident has devastated the lives of John and Jane Doe in every aspect. Sadly, there 

is no hope for any future improvement.


1.
John Doe

Before December 8, 2004, John Doe was a physically fit, healthy and active person. Doe enjoyed a good job, and he had a bright future. He and Jane had been happily married for 15 years. They were considering adopting a child when this catastrophic accident occurred. Doe had multiple interests and hobbies before this tragic accident. He enjoyed playing baseball and the guitar, camping, fishing, bowling, reading books, going to movies, and taking long walks with Jane. All this has now changed forever. 


Doe is a shadow of his former self. Physically, Doe is much weaker and physically unstable. His clonus causes him to walk with a short shuffling gait, and he must constantly be careful of his balance. Often, Doe cannot get his legs “to walk”, and he sits or stands talking to his legs to “get going”.


 Doe can no longer participate in any of the sports or physical activities he previously enjoyed. He now lives a sedentary lifestyle, and given his disabilities there is no hope that this will change in the future.


Mentally, Doe suffers from classic frontal lobe injuries which severely impair his memory, mood and concentration. He cannot multitask. His executive function skills, reasoning, learning and cognitive abilities have all been severely compromised. 


Doe no longer reads books or watches movies because he lacks the concentration and attention skills to perform these simple tasks. He used to enjoy the computer to learn new information, now he can only use a computer to play simple games. Doe used to love to play the guitar. Now such a skill is beyond his capacity.


Doe’s memory is severely impaired. He can no longer remember birthdays, anniversaries, or even holidays. He cannot even recall the names of his treating doctors. Pam must constantly remind Doe of appointments, his need for medications, and even when to eat. 


The constellation of Doe’s severe brain injury symptoms causes him to feel helpless, depressed, frustrated and vulnerable. He has no self confidence and feels useless and a burden. He has voiced suicidal thoughts on many occasions to his wife Pam.


Doe’s mood waxes and wanes from docile to suddenly agitated, irritable and angry. Post accident, he has had several explosive outbursts where he was abusive, threw objects, slammed doors, and swore repeatedly. He never displayed any of this behavior before this accident. Doe used to love spending time with his family and nephews. Doe has five brothers and sisters who live in the Reno area. Pam has six brothers and sisters who also live in the area. They have multiple nephews and nieces and Doe used to enjoy playing baseball and spending time with them. 
Now, Doe is anti-social and avoids being around people including his family. His wife is his sole source of mental and emotional support. 


To add to his mental and physical disabilities, Doe suffers from constant fatigue, another classic symptom associated with severe brain injuries. Doe estimates he has lost 75% of his energy level since this accident. He typically sleeps 12 hours per day and is still tired. 


Doe has spent 4 years doing everything possible to recover from his catastrophic injuries. Sadly, he clings to the hope that he will eventually make a full recovery and return to his former lifestyle. Doe lacks insight into the severity of his injuries, and he often makes statements about his condition that are either incorrect or false.


Doe has gone from a strong, independent man with a bright future, to a dependant 

vulnerable person who struggles everyday of his life. Doe has little quality of life, and the 

future holds no hope for any significant change.


Doe’s saving grace is his wife. Without her, Doe would be incapable of living independently. Jane Doe has faithfully been by Doe’s side ever since she received the shocking phone call from the hospital that her husband had been involved in a serious accident. She was driven to the hospital by a coworker and gasped at the sight of her husband in a coma connected to a ventilator. Her father had died the week before, and she could not bear the thought of losing her husband. 


Doe remained in a coma for approximately 6 weeks, and Jane Doe stayed by his side. When Doe finally came out of his coma, he thought his mother, who had died years before, was still alive. Doe had no memory of the accident or the 6-month period before the accident. 


Doe has a life expectancy of approximately 29 years. Dr. Rehab believes Doe’s severe injuries have caused a three-year reduction in life expectancy. For the remainder of his life, Doe will suffer the severe impairments that he now experiences. This is a tragic ending to a once promising future. 


2.
Jane Doe – Loss of Consortium

This accident has devastated the life of Jane Doe just as it has crushed the life of her husband. Shortly before this accident, Jane and John spoke about adopting a child – a lifelong dream for the couple married some 15 years. They anticipated that Doe would move up in the company to a sales position in the near future and this would significantly increase their income and allow them to have a family. This dream died on the day of the accident.


Jane Doe, age 46, has gone from a wife to a caregiver. John Doe has no interest or desire in sex, and this is now nonexistent for the couple. Before this accident, they enjoyed a healthy sex life and relationship. John Doe is now dependant on his wife for virtually everything.


John can only drive a car to places close by that he is familiar with. Otherwise, Jane now 

does all the driving. Before the accident, the Does enjoyed going out to dinner and movies. Now, 

John is anti-social and seeks to avoid being around people. John would do some cooking, 

shopping, laundry, and other household chores before this accident. Now, Jane must do 

everything. 


John Doe’s greatest fear is that Jane will divorce him and he will be left alone. The Does are aware that when one spouse suffers a severe traumatic brain injury, the likelihood of a divorce is great. Jane reassures her husband that she will stay with him forever, but Doe fears this may not be the case.


Both Jane and John fear what the future may bring. Jane knows John will never be gainfully employed again. The couple have lost their life savings and gone into debt due to John’s injuries and inability to work. As John ages, Jane feels he will further decline and need to be put into a facility. 


Jane Doe is entitled to recover damages for loss consortium which includes the loss of love, companionship, comfort, care, assistance, protection, affection, society, moral support, loss of enjoyment of sexual relations and ability to have children. Jane Doe’s loss is tremendous and permanent. We believe Jane’s loss of consortium claim alone is worth several million dollars.


This preventable accident has destroyed the lives of John and Jane Doe. The non-economic aspect of John’s injury case, and Jane’s loss of consortium claim, far exceed the available insurance.

VI.
SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL


John Doe has incurred past medical expenses of almost $800,000. Future medical expenses of $4.3 to $5.5 million are projected. Doe’s past and future wage loss is calculated to be about $1.4 million. Total economic damages are thus between $6.5 million and $7.7 million. The non-economic value of this case clearly has a potential far in excess of the economic damages, and the insurance coverage applicable to this case. Attached hereto as Exhibit 13 is a sampling of jury verdicts in similar traumatic brain injury cases documenting many verdicts beyond the insurance available in this case. Also enclosed are jury verdict summaries for loss of consortium cases in catastrophic injury cases.


For the reasons set forth above, we are authorized to propose settlement of this case for the policy limits of [confidential amount]. Our settlement proposal includes plaintiffs’ responsibility to resolve the substantiallien in this case. Should defendants reject our policy limit demand, it does so at its own peril and exposes Roe Defendant  to liability beyond the insurance limits. 
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